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DECISION ON APPEAL OF
HEARING OFFICER'S DECISION

Statement of the Case

The issue in this case is whether the Town of Somerset (Town) eliminated
lohn D. 0'Neil's differential pay in retaliation for his concerted, protected
ictivities, in violation of Sections 10(a)(3) and (1) of Massachusetts General
aws, Chapter 150E {(the Law).

On October 3, 1986, 0'Neil filed a charge with the Labor Refations
‘ommission {Commission) alleging the Town's vielation of Sections 10{a){3) and (I)
if the Law. After an investigation, the Commission issued a Complaint and Notice
f Hearing on January 29, 1987, alleging that the Town had violated Sections
0({a){3) and {1) of the Law. After the April 22, 1987 hearing, the hearing officer
'ssued her decision on October 27, 1987 finding the Town to be in violation of the
.aw, and ardering the Town to make 0'Neil whole for any loss of benefits and wages
e suffered as & result of the Town's unlawful decision to decrease his pay,

On November 2, 1987, the Town filed a timely notice of appeal, pursuant to
156 CMR 13.13. On December 2, the Town submitted its supplementary statement chal~
lenging certain findings of fact made by the hearing officer and contending that
ihe had failed to make other material factual findings. It further argues that the

1

The full text of the hearing officer's decision can be found at 14 MLC 1262
(H.0. 1987). : :
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| does not support a finding that the Town violated the Law. 3pecifically,
mn contends that 0'Neil did not prove two elements of his prima facie case,
hat the Town's actions were adverse to him, and that the Town was unTawfully
ited in eliminating the differential pay. The Town algo maintains that it

:ed sufficient evidence of Tts lawful motivation for the action taken, and
HNeil failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that the Town
not have taken the adverse action "but for' his protected activities. G'Nefl
his supplementary statement on December 22 arguing that the hearing officer's
on is supported by substantial evidence in the record and based upon proper
1sions of Taw. For the reasons discussed below, we affirm the hearing offi-
decision, although we modify her reasoning.

Findings of Fact

As noted above, the Town filed an extensive supplementary statement assert-
at the hearing officer 'had erred in making and in failing to make certain

al factual findings. We have reviewed the entire record and hereby make the
ting factual findings.

The Town promoted 0'Nell, a fourteen-year police officer for the Town, to
nt in September 1983 and to detective In September 1984, Prior to his
ment to the detective bureau, 0'Neil, assigned to the night shift, had -been
'ing night differential pay of $22.50 per week. When 0'Neil was assigned to
‘tective bureau, he also was assigned to the day shift. Police Chief Peter
:an told 0'Neil at the time of his assignment to detective that although

would be working the day shift, he would continue regeiving the differential
n lleu of requesting payment to cover "miner" overtime he would work (i.e.,
han four hours). This continued a prior arrangement that the Chief had main-
| with 0'Neil's predecessor, patrol officer Miller., From September 1984 until
986 0'Neil received the differential pay weekly.

During the fail of 1985, the Chief told 0'Neil that the Board of Selectmen
| to discourage 0'Nell from working for free in excess of his regularly sche-
hours. In early 1986 the Massachusetts Municipal Association warned the
that encouragement of voluntary overtime might viclate the Federal Labor
irds Act (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. §§20] et seq. As a result the Board began to
‘e that all employees, including 0'Neil, be paid for all overtime worked. For
e, when 0°'Neil needed extra detectives to work with him on a special investi-
iy called "Some-Fail,'" extending from the fall of 1985 through 1986, the Board
to pay the detectives all the overtime they had worked in accordance with the
nd the United States Supreme Court decision in Barcia v, San Antonio Metro.
t Auth., 469 U.S. 528 (1985). Nonetheless, the new payment of overtime to
for all hours he worked did not affect 0'Neil's differential pay, 0'Neil
ued to receive his, weekly pay differential in additlon to payment for his
me hours,

On March 20, 1986, 0'Neil sent a letter to Police Chief Kerrigan deseribing
ed for a second detective to help with the workload and recommending patrol

.
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yfficer Brian Lecnard for the position, Chief Kerrigan told 0'Neil that he was
ieeking approval for a second detective and suggested that O'Neil write directly to
:he Board of Selectmen. On April 30, 0'Neil wrote to the Selectmen recommending
.eonard for the position.

On May | the Selectmen chose patrol officer Donald Dube as the second detec-
iive to help 0'Neil with the growing worklead. O0'Neil protested the selection of
tube in a letter to the Selectmen dated May 8, 1986. Dube began his duties as
iecond détective in early July 1986.

During this period the Town was conducting a reclassification survey which
wuld impact 0'Neil's salary. O'Neil supported the Town's adoption of the Massa-
chusetts Municipal Association Survey which would be more favorable to him than the
‘own's own survey. On May 19, 1986, 0'Neil and Officer Leonard attended the Town
leeting. After Selectman Healey outlined the Town's proposed reclassification
iystem at the Town Meeting, 0'Neil and Leonard were the only dissenters in the
roice vote in favor of adopting the Town's reclassification plan. 0'Neil's
ittempts to discuss the issue prior to the vote were thwarted when the Town modera-
;or did not recognize him as a speaker and when the Selectmen prevented any discus-
iion of the plan after the vote had been taken.

On May 19, 1986, the Town adopted a new Consolidated Personnel Bylaw, -which
ient into effect on July i, 1986. This personnel bylaw was the Town's first
‘ormalized pay classification plan for non-union employees. After July 1, 1986, the
iew personnel bylaw governed the terms of Sergeant 0'Neil's employment. The per-
ionnel bylaw contains no provision for special '""detectives pay" other than that
xpressly provided for a "detective sergeant' in the Wage and Salary Gradings.

Following Town Meeting a local newspaper published an article which con-
ained statements of the Selectmen and Town Administrator Marchand in response to
"Meil's criticisms of the adoption of the Town's reclassification and wage plan.
n that article, Marchand criticized 0'Neil's opposition both to the new bylaw and
© pay increases to be awarded certain Town employees, and specifically suggested

2
In July 1986 sergeants, including 0'Neil, were neither represented by a

nien nor included In the patrol officer's bargaining unit, and thus, 0'Neijl's
osition was not subject to the collective bargaining agreement.

3

We note our disagreement with the Town's requested finding on appeal that
ecause the bylaw did not expressly provide for the differential pay previously
aid to 0'Neil, the town could no longer pay the differential. The -personnel bylaw
id not cover all police benefits. It is silent on certain existing benefits such
s the police educatlonal incentive pay (Quinn Bill benefits), premium pay for the
irearms -instructor, longevity pay and night shift differential for superior offi-
ers required to work nights. Furthermore, Town Administrator Arthur Marchand
estified that the existence of the bylaw did not prohibit the Town from paying a
detective" payment or differential if authorized by the Chief.
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.

I"Neil apologize to the Selectmen's administrative secretary for having
«d the amount of her salary increase.

While a patrol officer, 0'Neil had been president of Local 518 of the Inter-
13l Brotherhood of Police OFficers (IBPO) for several years. During the
| of 1986, after having been promoted to sergeant, O'Neil discussed jolning a

with the other sergeants. In May 1986 0'Neil informed Marchand that the
ints were interested In joining Local 518, Marchand told 0'Neil te put his
it in writing, On June 2, 1986, O'Nell sent to Marchand and the Selectmen the
ting letter, signed by Q'Neil and three of the five other sergeants:

By virtue of those signatures written below, It 1s our desire to join
the union of the International Brotherhood of Police 0fficers, Local
518 {1BP0). Please forward to us at your earliest possible opportunity
your recommendations.

1e 12 Marchand responded by suggesting that the sergeants follow ''the proce-
steps outlined ih Massachusetts General Law, Chapter IS0E." That same day 4
requested that the IBPD file a representation petition with the Commission. .

During the second week of July, 0'Neil noticed that his differential pay was
icluded in his paycheck for the prior week's work. He asked Captain Robert
rre and Marchand about the discrepancy, but they had no knowledge of it. .
discussing the matter with the.Selectmen, Marchand informed 0'Neil that they
y information about the elimination of his differential pay. Marchand
led no discussion about 0'Neil's differential pay by the Board of Selectmen
:SO’NeiI questioned him concerning the absence of pay in his first July pay-

After a new Town Accountant had taken office In April or May 1986, she asked
irious town departments to review their payrolls in light of the new bylaw,
y submit the payrolls to her for inspection. She also reviewed all of the
; collective bargaining agreements and payroll records. However, there. was no
wce presented as to who made the initial decisgon to terminate 0'Neil's
-ential pay, or the reasons for that decision.

1A

On September 24, 1986 the IBPO filed a petition seeking to represent a unit
iing the sergeants. At a December 17, 1986 election, a majority of the ser-
i voted to be represented by the 18P0. Since sometime thereafter a collective
ining agreement between the IBP0 and the Town has governed the sergeants’
vg conditions and compensation,

Marchand had been chair of the Board of Selectmen from 1976 through 1984,
sntinues to attend Board meetings In his capacity as Town Administrator,

The Town correctly disputes the hearing officer’ s finding that the Chief

(continued)
ml .
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On July 24 0'Neil received the following memorandum from Marchand:

The Board of Selectmen, after consulting with Chief Peter J. Kerrigan,
has determined that as a result of your assignment to the day shift,
you are not eligible to receive night shift differential on a regular
weekly basis. On those occasiens however, when it Is necessary for you
to work a minimum of eight (8) consecutive hours between 5:00 P.M. and
9:00 AM. you will receive night shift differential. In addition, when
you are authorized to work any hours beyond your normal day shift you
will receive [=1/2 times your normal rate of hourly pay for those hours
worked in excess of your regular shifi., {emphasis in original}

Since July 1986 0'Neil has not received the differentlal pay.
Discussion

To establish a prima facle violation of Section 10(a)(3), O'Neil must pre-
duce evidence to support each of the following elements: (1) that the employee
engaged in protected, concerted activity; (2} that the employer knew of the
employee's activity; (3) that the employer took adverse acticn agalnst the
employee; and (4) that employer animus to the employee's protected activity played
a role in the adverse action. |[f O'Neil meets that prima facie burden, the Town
must demonstrate a legitimate motive for having taken the adverse action. After
the Town has established the existence of legitimate motives, 0'Neil may still
prevail if he proves that "but for'" the unlawful motive, the Town would not have
taken the adverse action. Provincetown School Committee, 13 MLC 1396, 1398 (1987);
Boston City Hospital, 11 MLC TOG5, 1071 (1984); cf. lrustees of Forbes Library v.
Labor Relations Commission, 384 Mass. 559 (1981).

1. The Prima Facie Case

The Town admits that 0'Neil's activities protesting the reclassification
plan and his participation in the unionization of the sergeants were concerted
protected activities, of which it had knowledge.

The Town contends on appeal that 0'Neil failed to establish that the Town
tock adverse action against him or that the elimination of the differential pay was
unlawfully motivated. The Town does not dispute that 1t eliminated the twenty-two
dollars and fifty cents differential pay that 0'Neil had received in his paycheck

6 (continued) ]
told Marchand that he had reduced O'Neil's pay "at the request of the Town Account-
ant because she thought O'Nefl should not be receiving the differential pay."
Hearing Officer Declision at 1264, In fact the record establishes only that the
Town Accountant generally urged Town departments to conform their payrolls to the
new bylaw. There is no evidence to establish that the Chief had either recommended
or been invelved in the decision to stop 0'Neil's differential pay.
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the time he became a detective in September 1984 unti! July 1986. Nonethe-
, it argues that in place of the differential pay, 0'Neil was told in
hand's letter of July 24, 1986, that he would receive time and one half pay for
orized hours worked 1n excess of his regular shift. The Town argues that
use 0'Meil's job continues to require much overtime, for which he will be paid
time and one-half rate, it is possible that O'Nell will not be adversely
cted by the Town's action.

We reject the Town's contention for the following reasons. First, the
rd does not suppert a finding that the differential pay was eliminated because
Town decided to pay 0'Nell for all overtime hours worked. Although the payment
originally have been justified as a substitute for minor" overtime 0'Neil
d work as a detective, it was paid to him regardless of the number of hours we
ed and was essentially a continuation of the amount of the night differential
ad received before his assignment as a detective on the day shift. Moreover,
some period of time prior to Marchand's July 24 memorandum, 0'Neil had been
iving overtime compensation at time and one-half pay for all extra hours
ed, in addition to the differential pay. Therefore the evidence does not
ort a necessary premise of the Town's contention: that is, that the Town
anteed full overtime payments to 0'Neil as a substitute for the elimination of
differential pay.

We also reject the Town's corollary argument that 0'Neil was not adversely
cted by this substitute arrangement because he likely.can earn, in overtime
ents, as much or more than the amount of the differential pay. 0'Neil can earn
mount equivalent to the differential pay only by working extra overtime,
eas prior to July 24, 1986, he had received the differential pay whether or not
orked any additional hours. Therefore we conclude that 0'Neil established the
erse action' element of his prima facie case.

The Town's second argument is that there was insufficient evidence to prove

the Town was unlawfully motivated in eliminating the differential pay. The
ing officer based. her finding of unlawful motivation on the fact that the
erential pay was eliminated only a few weeks after 0'Neil's protestation of the
assiflcation plan at the May 10 Town meeting and in subsequent newspaper
cles, and the early June notification tg Marchand and the Selectmen about

il*s efforts to unionize the sergeants./ While acknowledging that timing is
evidence of unlawful motivation, the Town maintains that timing alone is not
iclent to support a prima facie case, ’

In addition, the hearing officer also based her conclusion of improper
vation on her finding that the Town's claim that 0'Neil's pay was decreased
use the Town Accountant instructed the Police Chief to correct an error in his
oll was pretextual. As discussed in n. &, above, the hearing officer erron-
ly found that Marchand had testified that the Chief took the action pursuant to
ructions from the Town Accountant.

%
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In Southern Worcester County Regional Vocational School District v, Labor
Relations Commission, 386 Mass. 414, 418-19 {1982}, the Court noted that 'to estab-
lish a prima facie case an employee need not introduce direct evidence of an unlaw-
ful motive such as an anti-unicn statement. The presence of an anti-union motiva-
tion by an employer is a factual matter which the [Commission] may reselve upon
circumstantial evidence from the record as a whole." To determine uniawful motiva-
tion, the Commission will examine circumstantial factors which Tnclude the timing
of the adverse actiom in relation to the protected activity, the insubstantiality
of the reasons advanced by the respondent for taking the adverse action, and the
employer's shifting explanations for the action., Boston City Hospital, 11 MLC at
1072-73; Everett Housing Authority, 13 MLC 1001, 1006 (1986).

We find, however, that the record in this case contains both direct evidence
of unlawful animus and circumstantial evidence of the Town's unlawful motive in the
elimination of 0'Neil's differential pay. First, there is direct evidence of
animus towards 0'Neil on the part of Marchand because of his opposition to the new
bylaw and pay raises received by certain Town employees. In a newspaper article
Marchand publicly criticized 0'Neil's opposition both to the new bylaw and to pay
ralses to be awarded specific Town employees, including the Selectmen's adminis-
trative assistant. In the article Marchand specifically demanded that O'Neil
publicly apologlize to the Selectmen's administrative assistant for opposing the
salary set for her position.

The circumstantial evidence suggestive of unlawful motive includes the close
timing of the adverse action to 0'Neil's protected activity as well as the incon-
sistent and shifting reasons offered by the Town for eliminating the differential
pay. The adverse action occurred the first week of July 1986 following a two-menth
period when 0'Neil had engaged in a considerable amount of protected activities: he
had publicly opposed the new bylaw; supported the promotion to detective of Officer
Leonard, who also cpposed the bylaw; opposed the selection of 0ffice Dube rather
than Officer Leonard; and begun to unionize the sergeants. Finally, the record
also indicates the Inconsistent and pretextual reasons offered by the Town for the
elimination of the differential pay. Marchand's July 24, 1986 Jetter to 0'Neil
offers, as the reason for ellmination of the differential pay: '[Als a result of
your assignment to day shift, you are ineligible to receive night shift differen-
tial on a regular weekly basis." This rationaile Is inconsistent with the fact that
since September 1984 0'Neil had worked on the day shift as a detective but never-
theless had been paid the differential. The letter's implication that 0'Neil lost
the pay differential because he was assigned to the day shift in July 1986 is
Inaccurate and inconsistent.

The Town asserts on appeal that the appointment of the second detective and
the adoption of the bylaw are two of "the reasons for eliminating the differential
pay. However, the record does not support a finding that these reasons actually
motivated the Town's decision. The letter of July 24 does not mention either of
these reasons. There is no evidence that the appointment of a second detective was
intended to affect 0'Neil’'s differential pay. The record indlcates only that the
second detective was appointed in order to alleviate 0'Neil's Increased workload.
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:nding the pay differential, there was no evidence that the passage of the
+ was a factor in the decision to eliminate 0'Nell's differential pay. We have
i that the bylaw is silent on saveral types of monetary payments which the Town
inues to pay such as night shift differential for superior officers, longevity
policy educational incentive pay and the premium pay for the firearms instruc-
In addition, Marchand conceded that the Chief may authorize a differential to
1id to detectives even though it is not specified in the bylaw. In sum, we
nothing in the bylaw to preclude the payment of differential pay.

The Town's Asserted Lawful Reasons and 0'Neil's Burden of Persuasion

In order to rebut 0'Neil's prima facie case, the Town must state a lawful
»n for its decision and produce supporting facts indicating that this was
illy a motive in the decision to eliminate the differential pay. Boston City
ital, 11 MLC at 1073. Once the Town has proposed a lawful reason and presented
srting facts, the burden of persuasion Is on the charging party, who must prove
preponderance of the evidence that the Town would not have taken the adverse
m "but for'' 0'Neil's concerted, protected activity., Town of Stow, 11 MLC
, 1319 {1984) aff'd 21 Mass. App. Ct. 935 {1985). -

The Town asserts the following legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons for
inating 0'Neil’s differential pay: 1) the enactment of the new personnel
¥, which governed the terms and conditions of O'Neil's employment after July I,
, did not provide for payment of the differential to a detective sergeant, 2)
[1's assignment to the day shift did not permit the payment of a night differ-
11, and 3) the hiring of a second detective to work the night shift was
1ded to reduce the amount of overtime 0'Neil would have to work and eliminate
:onditions which originally motivated the Chief to agree to pay 0'Neil the dif-
1tial as a substitute for "minor overtime."

We conclude, however, that the Town's asserted reasons were not the real
sns for the action and that the Town would not have eliminated 0'Neil's differ-
1l pay "but for" his concerted protected activitlies., Although the Town has
ssed reasons for the elimination of O'Neil's pay differential, we have con~
:d that there [sno evidence establighing whe made the initial decision to
inate the pay differential and why.® Although Marchand's letter of July 24,
does offer a reason why the Selectmen and Chief decided to eliminate the pay
:rential we have already discussed why the record indlcates that the reason is
:xtual, Moreover, we have already concluded that the other reasons argued by
f[own on appeal as lawful reasoris for eliminating 0'Neil's differential pay were
sstablished in the record, either by witness testimony or documentary evidence,

a B
It was improper for the hearing officer to draw an adverse inference from®
imployer's failure to call the Town Accountant as a witness in the absence of
:t evidence of the Town Accountant's involvement in the decision to eliminate
lifferential.

“
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as having actually motivated the Town's decision. $Since Q'Neil has established a
nrima facie case that the decision was unlawfully motivated, the burden shifted to
the Town to adduce evidence establishing one or mere lawful reasons that actually
notivated its action. Since the Town failed to fulfill that burden, O0'Neil pre~
vails,

Therefore, we conclude that 0'Neil's concerted, protected activity was the
real reason for the Town's decision to eliminate his differential pay. The Town
therefore has violated Sections 10{a){1} and (3} of the Law.

Having found that the Town violated Sections 10{a)(1l) and (3), we order the
Town to restore the differential pay and to make 0'Neil whole for the monetary loss
he incurred as a result of the Town's unlawful action, and to post a notice to all
employees drawing their attention to our decision.

. Conclusion

Based on the entire record, and for the reasons set forth above, we find
that "but for' 0'Neil's concerted, protected activity, he would have continued to
receive the twenty-two dollars and Fifty cents ($22.50) weekly differentlal pay
which he had recelved since September 1984, and that the Town therefore violated
Sections 10{a}{1) and {3) of the Law by eliminating the differential on or about
July 1, 1986,

Qrder

WHEREFORE, IT |5 HEREBY ORDERED, pursuant to Section IT of the Law, that tﬁe
Town of Somerset shall:

1. Cease and desist from:

a. Discriminating in regard to any term or condition of employment to
encourage or discourage membership in any employee organization;

b. Interfering with, restréinlng. and coercing its employees in the
exercise of any right guaranteed under the Law; .

. d. Discriminating against John D. 0'Neil in regard to any term or
condltion of employment in retaliation for engaging in any
concerted activity protected by the Law.

2." Take the following affirmative action which will effectuate the
policies of the Law:

a. Immediately resume payment of the twenty-two dollars and fifty
cents ($22.50) weekly dIfferential pay to Sergeant John D. 0'Neil,
and make him whole for the loss of wages he suffered as a result of
the Town's decision to eliminate the differential as of July I,

1986,
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b. Immediately sign and post a copy of the attached Notice to Employes
where notices to employees are usually posted and where employees
usually congregate and cause the same to remain posted for a period

of thirty {30} consecutive days.

c. Notify the Commission, in writing, within thirty {30} days of
receipt of this Decision and QOrder of the stéps taken to comply

herewith.

SO ORDERED.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
LABOR RELATIONS COMMISSION

MARIA C. WALSH, COMMISSIONER

EL1ZABETH K. BOYER, COMMISSIONER

<
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NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF
THE MASSACHUSETTS LABOR ARELATIONS COMMISSION
AN AGENCY OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

After a hearlng at which all parties had the opportunity to present
gvidence, the Massachusetts Labor Relations Commission (Commission) has determined
that the Town of Somerset violated Sections 10(a) (1) and (3) of the Law by
eliminating the twenty~two dollars and fifty cents {$22.50) weekly differential pay
for Detective-Sergeant John D. O'Neil in retaliation for his exercise of concerted,
protected activity. The Commission has ordered us to post this Notice and abide by
what it says.

Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 150E gives public employees the
following rights:

To engage in self-organization;

To form, join or assist any union;

To bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing;

To act together for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid
or protection;

To refrain from all of the above.

WE WILL NOT do anything that interferes with, restrains or coerces employees
in the exercise of these rights.

WE WILL NOT discriminate against employees to encourage or discourage
membership in any employee organization.

WE WILL resume payment of the differential pay to Detective-Sergeant John D.
0'Neil and will make him whole for his losses resulting from our decision to
terminate the twenty-two dollars and fifty cents ($22.50) weekly pay differential
as of July 1, 1986.

Town of Somerset
Police Chief
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